II.

III.

V.

VL

VIL

VIIL

IX.

XL

XIL

WHEELING TOWNSHIP
1616 North Arlington Heights Road
Arlington Heights, IL 60004

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

PAULA ULREICH MEETING ROOM
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2024
8:00 PM

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024
APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024
PRESENTATION - AGENCY HEARING - Hands on Suburban Chicago

AUDIT

CITIZENS TO BE HEARD

OFFICIALS’ REPORT

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT

NEW BUSINESS

1. Approval — Resolution 2024-05 Setting Compensation of Township Officials
2. Approval - 2024 Tentative Levy

ADJOURNMENT

NEXT REGULAR BOARD MEETING-DECEMBER 9, 2024-8:00 PM



WHEELING TOWNSHIP SPECIAL MEETING
HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY PRESENTATIONS

CALL TO ORDER

The special meeting of the Supervisor and Board of Trustees of Wheeling Township, for
October 22, 2024 was held in the Paula Ulreich Meeting Room, in the Township of
Wheeling, 1616 North Arlington Heights Road, Arlington Heights, lllinocis. Supervisor
Penner called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Clerk Gauza called the roli and the following members were present: Supervisor Kathleen
Penner, Trustee Jeanne Hamilton, Trustee Patricia Kozicki, Trustee Darrel Talken and
Clerk Joanna Gauza.

Also in attendance: Director of Finance and Administration Regina Stapleton.

Absent: Trustee Joseph Murglin

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Supervisor Penner led those assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Human Service agency presentations are now on a three-year funding cycle. This year,
Human Service agencies were asked to appear before the Supervisor, Board of Trustees
at a specified time. Agencies were each allotted ten minutes for a presentation, with
questions and answers following. All agencies submitted an application prior to the
presentations, which was used as a guideline during the question and answer period.
Each application for funding provided detailed program and budgetary information.

Presentations were made as follows:

1) Kathy Garceau Center of Concern (COC) Director of Development and
Community spoke and requested $5000. COC provides housing assistance,
support services and financial counseling to persons and families at risk of
homelessness. COC has some 300 volunteers. Also assists older adults with
grocery services. With Catholic Charities ceasing some programs, COC is getting
increasing requests.

News/Questions and Answers — COC is expanding staff because seeing substantial
increase in requests for services.

2) Dallas Tomlin, the Executive Director of Connections to Care (CTC), spoke and
requested $18,500. CTC provides volunteer-based transportation for frail, elderly



adults to travel to their medical or dental appointments. A CTC volunteer stays
with the senior until the appointment is completed and also may assist in picking
up a prescription. A $15 round way donation is requested for each trip, but CTC
will never turn down a customer whether the customer donates or not. CTC spends
$31 per ride so $15 donation does not cover costs. About 85% of customers do
donate. The program has been around 12 years and has provided some 32,000
rides over the years. The average age of customers is 86 years-old. The drivers
pick up and walk in the patients and wait and then take them back to the car and
drive them home. The service supplements Wheeling Township’s senior
transportation service because Wheeling typically serves a more mobile
population. CTC has the advantage of being able to cross Township borders
whereas Wheeling has the advantage of being able to take customers to the
grocery store. CTC works closely with Wheeling Township to refer people to who
can best serve their needs. About 59% of the rides that CTC gave last year were
for Wheeling Township residents. Most customers average about 6 rides a year.
However, the drivers do not assist those who are post-surgery because those
seniors may require special care. During the pandemic, CTC did reduce services,
but rides are up 35% this year to about 135 rides per month.

News/Questions and Answers — CTC drivers are required to have their own car insurance
and CTC provides additional liability coverage. Mileage for volunteer drivers is not
reimbursed. People can now schedule services online. CTC has added 97 new
passengers and hired 7 more drivers. Wheeling Township biggest donor of Townships.
CTC recruits in church based organizations for drivers.

3} Erica Chiarrelli Executive Director of Family Forward requested $13,000. Family
Forward provides rental assistance and counseling to low income persons in the
Northwest suburbs. Family Forward provides rental assistance for up to 2 years
while providing counseling to help individuals become self-sufficient. The goal is
for the families to pay market rate rent and their bills on their own and on time.
Rents are increasing and so is the demand for Family Forward's services. About
64 of the some 500 customers are from Wheeling Township. For example. Family
Forward paid security deposits for 9 families at Crescent Place.

News/Questions and Answers — Family Forward has flexibility to still assist after 2 years.
The mentor has resources and flexibility when working with families. Family Forward
partners with the Township for services such as General Assistance. Family Forward
does require that persons have an apartment. Family Forward recruits mentors from
Churches and organizations.

4) J.B. Max from Life Span requested $20,000 in funding. Life Span's mission is to
empower survivors of domestic violence and ensure that the victims receive
appropriate treatment. Life Span tries to change social attitudes toward domestic
violence. Life Span provides counseling, legal representation, advocacy,
education, and crisis intervention. Life Span has representative in the Rolling



Meadows courthouse. Life Span also partners with Kan-Win and Wings
counseling.

News/Questions and Answers — Life Span does also serve in the Skokie courthouse and
Chicago courts. In addition to civil orders of protection, Life Span does have attorneys
that work on divorce, child support, and spousal support. Life Span is taking new clients
but has seen big spike in cases after COVID. VOCA law provides rights for victims of
crime. VOCA federal funding was cut impacting services like Life Span.

5) Miley, Grants Coordinator of Kan — Win requested $3000. Kan-Win provides
trauma informed care to Asian-American immigrant survivors of gender-based
violence. Kan-Win has a 24-hour crisis line and provides counseling to adults and
children. The multi-lingual counseling obtains the legal and social services needed.
Really committed to linguistically limited immigrants. Last year served 37 residents
of Wheeling Township. Kan-Win also does educational outreach, including to
Korean Community Center.

News/Questions and Answers — Kan-Win finds it difficult to find counsellors with the
language skills. It takes time. Small one time grants are used to train staff. Kin-Wan
located in Park Ridge by Des Plaines. Advocates will travel 2 hours if needed. Police
and cultural groups send referrals.

6) Eliza Labelle, Executive Director, Kindred Life Ministries (“KLM") requested
$8000 in funding. KLM's mission is to provide support to teenage mothers and their
families. KLM is not involved until after the child is born and the program serves a
customer for up to 3 years. KLM teaches young mothers iife skills including
budgeting, parenting, and how to cope with their various roles from teen, to
student, to employee, and parent. Social workers and counselors provide the
counseling and mentorship to build successful lives. Teen mothers are finishing
school, obtaining jobs, and becoming successful parents. Average rent in lllinois
is $1200 per month. So the focus is on parents getting an education. KLM has
three locations, including one location in Wheeling, and can serve a total of 21
families at a time.

News/Questions and Answers — Teen parents support is critical. KLM invites extended
family to social events. KLM serves parents ages 15-23. KLM assists with housing.

7) Angel, the representative for Northwest Community Hospital Foundation
(“NCHF”) thanked Wheeling Township for its past support and requested $35,000
in funding. The NCHF Oral Health Program provides necessary dental care to
persons that lack financial resources for dental care. Wheeling Township has been
part of the mobile dental clinic with NCHF from the start in 2003. The mobile clinic
serves four Townships. Clients need to be below 200% of the poverty level to
qualify for services. Clients are asked for $30 co-pay, but if the patient is on
Medicaid, there is no co-pay. Most dental services are provided. The staff is bi-
lingual and includes dental students from UIC. NCHF sees about 2100 patients



per year. NCHF has students from Midwestern and UIC. NCHF also provides
services from teeth cleaning to oral surgery.

News/Questions and Answers — Cook County has a new facility on Arlington Heights
Road. NCHF works with the County because Cook County can provide emergency
services faster than NCHF. NCHF has a waiting list of 3 weeks for appointments. NCHF
takes mobile unit to high schools.

8) Sonia lvanov, the Executive Director of Northwest Compass/Emergency
Housing (“NCEH”), appeared and requested $40,000. NCEH is headquartered in
Mount Prospect. NCEH serves the low-income population in the northwest suburbs
by providing emergency services such as emergency housing. NCEH helps the
homeless or those at risk of being homeless by enrolling them in public services,
public health insurance, mental health referrals, and skills training. NCEH also
helps those facing food or financial insecurity. NCEH has 7 apartments in Wheeling
Township where they house those that were homeless. NCEH also provides rental
payment assistance, operates a food pantry, and provides life skill training.

News/Questions and Answers — NCEH is asking for increased funding because of
increased need. NCEH sees about 6000 people a year. There are pockets of housing
challenges in the Northwest suburbs. Catholic Charities closed its offices in Des Plaines
and NCEH is getting those persons. Police also call with individuals needing housing.
NCEH does face language barriers, but staff has some 5-6 bilingual speakers. Keeping
staff is difficult because private sector pays more than non-profits.

9) Kimberly Metz, COO for Access to Care, spoke for Suburban Primary
Health Care Council (“SPH”) and requested $25,000 in funding. Access to Care
is the name of a program to provide access to primary health services to low
income individuals in suburban Cook County. When the Affordable Care Act was
enacted, the hope was that it would provide health care to low income residents.
However, years after the Act became law, about 10% of Cook County residents
still do not have access to medical care. SPH provides access to healthcare by
offering a $5 per visit primary care physician appointment, $5 cost for certain lab
work, and medications for 30 days for $15-$40. SPH also provides some
behavioral programs working with Ascension. Depression and anxiety are the
most common issues. Some 40% are between 40-49 years of age. SPH works
with people that are not eligible for other care coverage like Medicaid. SPH
participants are sicker since the pandemic began. Some 25% are diabetic and
25% have three or more disease issues. SPH now working with University of
Hlinois to provide diabetic education. Last year SPH saw some 5000 people.
Usually SPH saw 150 new patients a month, but in April saw 400. The need has
really increased. Since January, SPH has served 377 Wheeling Township
residents.

News/Questions and Answers — Migrant crisis has contributed to the increase, but not
alone. In addition, Medicaid was not covering some people so they came to SPH.



10) Luticia Fiorito, the Government Relations Manager for WINGS Program Inc.
(“WINGS”) spoke for WINGS and requested $10,000 in funding. WINGS provides
housing, integrated social services, education, and advocacy services to victims
of domestic violence. WINGS has two emergency sheiters, one in Chicago and
one in the suburbs, available 24 hours a day.

Last year WINGS served 386 nights of housing to 49 residents of Wheeling
Township. WINGS also provided some 740 hours of direct counseling. Customers
entering WINGS are coming with fewer resources, a trend that most domestic
violence programs are seeing. WINGS piloting study of traumatic injury and long-
term affects on victims. WINGS has expanded housing program to 160 units.

News/Questions and Answers — Family Counseling Center is iocated on Algonquin road.
Staffing ebbs and flows. Retention is a struggle. WINGS wait list is 23 children and adults
is over 30. Every shelter reports to [llinois Domestic hotline availability of beds twice a
day. WINGS is part of this process. Victims typically spend 90-120 days in the
emergency shelters.

The Human Services presentations adjourned at 7:50 p.m.

Joanna M. Gauza
Township Clerk



WHEELING TOWNSHIP MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024

CALL TO ORDER

The regular meeting of the Supervisor and Board of Trustees of Wheeling Township, for
October 22, 2024 was held in the Paula Ulreich Meeting Room, in the Township of
Wheeling, 1616 North Arlington Heights Road, Arlington Heights, lilinois. Supervisor
Penner called the meeting to order at 8:00 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Clerk Gauza called the roll and the following members were present, Supervisor Kathy
Penner, Trustee Jeanne Hamilton, Trustee Patricia Kozicki, Trustee Darrel Talken and
Clerk Joanna Gauza.

Also in attendance: Wheeling Township Assessor Ken Jochum, Wheeling Township
Attorney Kenneth Florey, and Wheeling Township Director of Finance and Administration
Regina Stapleton.

Absent: Trustee Joseph Murglin

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Supervisor Penner led those assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:"

MOTION #1: APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING
ON SEPTEMBER 24,2024

Motion by T rustee Kozicki, se_bonded by Trustee Hamilton, to approve the minutes of
September 24, 2024 Regular Board Meeting.

ROLL CALL:VOTE: AYES: Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken, Penner
NAYS: None.... Motion #1 Carried.

AUDIT

MOTION #2: AUDIT FOR TOWN FUND

Motion by Trustee Kozicki, seconded by Trustee Hamilton, to approve batch #9/30/24,
#10/11/24, #10/21/24, and #10/22/24 against the Town Fund in the amount of
$194,811.08 to be paid.

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken, Penner
NAYS: None.... Motion #2 Carried.



WHEELING TOWNSHIP MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024

MOTION #3: AUDIT FOR ROAD MANAGEMENT FUND

Motion by Trustee Kozicki, seconded by Trustee Hamilton, to approve batch #9/27/24,
#9/30/24, #10/11/24 and #10/22/24 against the Road Management Fund, in the amount
of $54,903.41 to be paid.

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken, Penner
NAYS: None.... Motion #3 Carried.

MOTION #4: AUDIT FOR CEMETERY FUND

Motion by Trustee Kozicki, seconded by Trustee Hamilton, to approve batch #10/22/24
against the Cemetery Fund, in the amount of $489.87 to be paid.

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken, Penner.
NAYS: None.... Motion #4 Carried.

CITIZENS TO BE HEARD

Amy Somary: Our property tax bill shows where money g.oes. She knows that approving
708 taxes means higher property taxes than the Towniship is used to taxing.

Fred Vogt: 708 Board needs direction from the Township Board.

Lorri Grainawi: Resp_o_nd'ed to.comments from previous meetings.

OFFICIALS’ REPORT
ASSES#ﬁR: Assessor-Jochum reported:

TAXYEAR 2024

e Wheeling Township is closed for appeals with the Cook County Assessor having
completéd 967 appeals for residents. This number is higher than anticipated for
the third year of the trienpial.

» We anticipate the Board of Review opening for appeals in December however we
have begun to take pre-files for the convenience of residents.

+ PERMITS

* We have begun processing permits.

* We are hosting a meeting for all municipalities within the township to discuss the
importance of proper processing of permits and the impact on revenue. This is
important since we identify the assessment levels for about 22 million dollars in
permits per year.

* Our permit work must be done by December in order to support the tax revenue
process.



WHEELING TOWNSHIP MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024

» The meeting is scheduied for November 12, 2024 here in the Ulreich conference
room.

e Attached please see a copy of the Civic Federation ESTIMATED EFFECTIVE
PROPERTY TAX RATES article, focusing on our area. Arlington Heights
and Buffalo Grove are assessed 2-3 times higher than most of the nation.

CLERK’S REORT: Clerk Gauza informed the Board that the Clerk’s Office held a voter
registration drive at Luther village on October 4.

ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT: Administrator Stapleton reported:

* Our Food Pantry Coordinator is retiring in November.
We have hired his replacement. David Bujak started on October 14th. He speaks
Polish, and we are delighted to have him.
¢ Bonnie Niedert, our receptionist, will retire after 22 years at.the Township on
October 30th. We will have a small gathering on October 28th if the Board is
interested in attending. Please let me know. We.have started Iooking for her
replacement.
e The Holiday Program's reglstratlon has begun. We thank the commumty for their
continued support.
« Statistics for September 2024:
1,640 rides:--782 non-medical, 858 Medical (Disabled 239 rides)
889- mea[s delivered
496 - yls_lts to the Food Pantry - 1,065 people
3- Alzheimer's Caregiver Support Group
17 -(VIP) V|Sua|ly Impalred Support Group

NEW BUSINESS

MOTION % 5: APPRO\?AL-.OF 2024-2025 AUTO INSURANCE RENEWAL

Motion by Supervusor Penner seconded by Trustee Kozicki to approve the 2024 - 2025
Auto Insurance Renewal

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Penner, Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken
NAYS: None.... Motion #5 Carried.

MOTION #6: APPROVAL OF TOWNSHIP PARKING LOT AND CEMETERY 2024-2025
SNOW REMOVAL CONTRACT

Motion by Supervisor Penner, seconded by Trustee Kozicki to approve the Township
Parking Lot and Cemetery 2024 — 2025 Snow Removal Contract.

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Penner, Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken
NAYS: None.... Motion #6 Carried.

3



WHEELING TOWNSHIP MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OCTOBER 22, 2024

MOTION #7: APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2024-04 SENIOR CELEBRATION DAY

Motion by Supervisor Penner, seconded by Trustee Kozicki to approve the Resolution
2024 — 04 Senior Celebration Day.

ROLL CALL VOTE: AYES: Penner, Kozicki, Hamilton, Talken
NAYS: None.... Motion #7 Carried.

OLD BUSINESS:

2024 LEVY DISCUSSIONS: This is the Township levy:and not the 708 Board levy.
Supervisor Penner suggested keeping the township levy flat for the next year.

MOTION #8: ADJOURNMENT

Motion by Supervisor Penner seconded by Trustee Kozicki to adjourn.
VOICE CALL VOTE: All Ayes.... Motion #8 Carried.
The meeting for Tueaday October 22, 2024, was declared adjourned at 8:20 p.m. The

next scheduled regular board meeting is set for Tuesday, November 19, 2024, at 8:00
p.m.

Joannéi'}:}!, Gauza
Wheeling Township Clerk



ESTIMATED EFFECTIVE PROPERTY
TAX RATES 2013-2022:

SELECTED MUNICIPALITIES IN NORTHEASTERN ILLINOIS

THE CIVIC FEDERATION CEUERRATING IO
OCTOBER 1, 2024




MAJOR FINDINGS

Effective property tax rates are a measure of property tax burden for homeowners and
businesses. They translate the tax rates on property tax bills into rates that reflect the
percentage of full market value that a property owed in taxes for a given year. This report
estimates the tax year 2022 (taxes payable in 2023) effective rates for a specific tax code in
Chicago and 28 other selected municipalities in northeastern Illinois.! Of the municipalities, 12
are in Cook County (including Chicago) and 19 are in collar counties. There are three
municipalities included in the study that are located in two counties: Elgin overlaps Cook and
Kane counties, Elk Grove Village overlaps Cook and DuPage counties and Naperville overlaps
DuPage and Will counties.?

In Cook County, six of the 12 selected municipalities experienced an effective property tax rate
decrease on residential property in tax year 2022 compared to the previous year. All 12
municipalities in Cook County experienced a decrease across commercial properties between
tax year 2021 and 2022. Industrial effective property tax rates in the selected Cook County
municipalities for which data were available also decreased over the two-year period. There
were not enough sales of industrial property in the Chicago assessment triad and South
assessment triad? in tax year 2022 for the lllinois Department of Revenue to conduct a
statistical analysis of assessment to sales ratios. As a result, the Civic Federation was only able
to calculate the 2022 estimated effective tax rates for Cook County industrial properties in the
North Triad (see Methodology).

tn the collar counties, the effective property tax rate for all types of property decreased by
between 2.6% and 9.9% across all 19 municipalities between tax years 2021 and 2022. The
largest property tax rate decrease over this same period among the collar counties was the
selected tax code in Naperville, which decreased by 9.9%.

In the 10-year period between tax years 2013 and 2022, the effective tax rates for residential
property decreased in all the selected municipalities in Cook County except for Chicago, which
increased by 2.2% but nevertheless had an effective rate of 1.69%, lower than any of the other
selected Cook County municipalities. For commercial properties, most of the municipalities’
effective tax rates decreased, except for Harvey, Barrington and Chicago, which increased by
4.4%, 4.9% and 11.5%, respectively. There were not enough sales of industrial property in tax
years 2013 or 2022 in the South Triad, or in 2022 in Chicago, to calculate an effective tax rate. In

" There are many tax codes in a community, so there will be different estimated effective property tax rates throughout a
community, depending on school districts and other taxing bodies’ different tax rates.

2 These overlapping municipalities were chosen to enable the reader to examine differentials in tax rates that occur in
one community.

3 Cook County is divided into three districts known as "triads” for the purpose of property assessment: Chicago, North
and South. Naorth Avenue serves as the dividing line between the North and South suburban triads, such that all Cook
County properties outside the City of Chicago and north of North Avenue are in the North triad, and alt other
suburban Cook County properties are in the South triad. Each district 1s reassessed every three years, All other
counties in lllinois must reassess property every four years. See Appendix for a map of the Cock County assessment
districts.

I



the collar counties effective tax rates for all types of property declined for all the selected
municipalities over the 10-year period examined

City of Chicago

e The City of Chicago had a residential effective tax rate of 1.69% in 2022, the lowest rate
for residential property of the 12 selected Cook County municipalities.* The rate
decreased from 1.76% the prior year;

e The City's effective tax rate for commercial properties decreased to 4.29% in 2022 from
4.70% the prior year, the lowest of the 12 selected Cook County municipalities. As noted
above, the Civic Federation was not able to calculate an effective tax rate for industrial
properties in Chicago in 2022;

« Over the 10-year period between 2013 and 2022, the residential effective tax rate in
Chicago increased by 2.2%, from 1.66% to 1.69% of full market value; and

» The commercial effective tax rate also increased by 11.5% between 2013 and 2022, from
3.84% to 4.29% of full market value.

Suburban Cook County: Selected Municipalities (11)

e Between 2021 and 2022 five of the 11 selected suburban Cook County municipalities
experienced a decline in residential effective property tax rates while the other six saw
flat or increased residential effective tax rates over the two-year period examined;

e Two South suburban municipalities had the highest effective rates for Tax Year 2022, a
continuation of a long-term trend reflected in the 10-year analysis. Harvey had the
highest 2022 effective tax rates among the 11 selected suburban municipalities, at
4.74% for residential property and 17.41% for commercial property, with Chicago
Heights effective rates at 3.2% and 12.1%, respectively;

» All of the selected Cook County suburban municipalities experienced decreases in
commercial effective tax rates between 2021 and 2022. Elgin had the largest decrease,
at 21.9%, followed by Glenview at 16.9% over the two-year period;

s All of the selected suburban Cook County municipalities experienced a reduction in
residential effective tax rates over the 10-year period between 2013 and 2022, and all
but two experienced decreases in commercial effective tax rates. The exceptions were
commercial properties in Harvey and Barrington. As noted above, the Civic Federation
was not able to calculate an effective tax rate for industrial properties in the South Triad
in 2022. However, for the North Triad properties, every municipality experienced
decreased industrial property tax rates over the 10-year period; and

» Among the selected suburban municipalities in the North Triad of Cook County, the City
of Elgin had the highest estimated effective industrial tax rate at 5.72% and the Village of
Glenview had the lowest at 4.29%.

*In this report, “residential” refers to Class 2 properties, which are single family homes, condominiums, cooperatives and
apartment buildings of up to six units. Larger apartment buildings (Class 3) are not included for the purposes of this report
As discussed later in the report, the estimated residential rate 1s without homeowner exemptions, which would lower the
rate.

| —



Collar counties: Selected Municipalities {19)

* All 19 selected collar county municipalities experienced decreases in effective property
tax rates between 2021 and 2022,

« Buffalo Grove had the highest effective tax rate among the 19 selected collar county
municipalities in 2022 at 2.72%, which was a 7.7% decline from the 2021 effective tax
rate and a 12.5% decline from the 2013 effective tax rate of 3.11%;

» Oak Brook had the lowest 2022 effective property tax rate among the selected collar
county municipalities at 1.09%, compared to 1.14% the prior year; and

» Over the 10-year period from 2013 to 2022, all 19 selected municipalities in the collar

counties experienced reductions in effective tax rates. Waukegan saw the largest decline

of 53.2%, from 5.60% in 2013 to 2.62% in 2022. Lake Forest saw the smallest decrease
over the 10-year period, falling 0.8%, from 1.70% in 2013 to 1.68% in 2022.

PURPOSE

Effective tax rates provide a common denominator for comparing property tax burdens in
different jurisdictions over time.>

DEFINITION AND USE

An effective property tax rate is an estimate of the percentage of a property's full market value
owed in property taxes during a given tax year. Multiplying the market value of a home or
business property by the applicable effective tax rate provides an estimate of the property
taxes due on that property in the given year. For example, a property with a market value of
$300,000 and an effective tax rate of 2% would have an estimated property tax liability of
$6,000.

By standardizing the expression of property tax burden, effective property tax rates provide a
method of comparing average property tax burdens in different areas over time. However,
these are estimates for the purpose of broad comparison rather than precise expressions of
tax burden on specific properties. To calculate the effective property tax rate for a specific
property, divide that property’s most recent annual tax hability into an estimate of its market
value for the same year.

Effective property tax rates should be regarded only as estimates for several reasons:
1. There are multiple property tax rates within each municipality, and the effective rate
calculated in this report is representative of only one of those tax rates.
2. Effective property tax rates for residential properties do not include homestead, senior
or other exemptions. (See explanation of exemptions on the fallowing page.)

* Readers unfamiliar with the Cock County property tax system and/or the terminalagy used in the following sections would
benefit from reviewing the Civic Federation's primers on the Caok County Property Tax and Ex processes
or the Cook County Clerk's



3. The effective tax rate calculations use the median tevel of assessment within a given
geographical area. While a property is likely to be near the median level of assessment,
the actual level of assessment for any given property could be greater or lesser than the
median.

itis also important to recognize that a decreasing effective tax rate does not necessarily

translate into decreased tax liabilities. A property owner whose property is appreciating in

value may experience an increase in their tax bill despite a decreasing effective tax rate. For
example, a taxpayer whose property’s full market value increased from $200,000 to
$300,000 but whose effective tax rate declined from 3% to 2.5% would still see an increase
in their tax bili from $6,000 to $7,500.

Reasons for Change in Effective Tax Rates

The change in effective tax rates over time is due to changing actual composite tax rates,
changing median levels of assessment, or both. In Cook County, changes in the equalization
factor can also impact effective tax rates.” All of these individual data points are impacted by
the taxation choices governments make, changes in the value of property due to the property
assessment and appeals processes, real estate market trends and many other factors. The
number of variables renders predictions of what will happen to effective tax rates in any one
year difficult and therefore these estimates are best evaluated as part of a trend or in
comparison to other jurisdictions.”

METHODOLOGY

The effective tax rates calculated in this report are based on data from the {llinois Department
of Revenue and the Clerks of Cook, DuPage, Kane, Lake, McHenry, and Will counties. The
County Clerks calculate the composite property tax rates for each tax code within the county.
The lllinois Department of Revenue calculates the equalization factor for each county as well as
the median levels of assessment.

The Department of Revenue collects data on property sales and calculates the ratio of assessed
values to sales values. A median assessment/sales ratio is computed, as well as an adjusted
median ratio if additional data is submitted by the County Assessor after the initial data was
collected. This median ratio is commonly referred to as the "“median level of assessment.”

For every county except Cook, the median level of assessment is for all types of property. For
Cook County, which classifies property by type for real estate tax purposes, separate medians
are computed for different classes of property.® The Cook County real estate classification
ordinance requires that residential (Class 2) properties be assessed at 10% and commercial
(Class 5a) and industrial (Class 5b) properties at 25% of market value beginning in tax year

“ The collar counties’ equalization factors do not generally change significantly from year to year because they do not set
different property tax assessment levels for different types of property. Cook County 15 the only county in lllinots that uses
differennial assessment, also known as classification.

" For more about the difficulty in predicting changes in property tax bills, see

®* Median levels of assessment for Cook County are typically released in the spring or summer two years following the
assessment year {e.g., the 2022 median levels of assessment for Cook County were released in summer 2023},

5



2009.7 One result of this change was to bring the ordinance levels of assessment closer to the
median levels of assessment computed in the lllinois Department of Revenue's
assessment/sales ratio studies. In the past, median levels of assessment diverged significantly
from the ordinance levels due to underassessment, including reductions by the Assessor and
the Board of Review.

Special note should be taken that the Department of Revenue’s ratio studies indicate a high
coefficient of dispersion for commercial and industrial assessments, which means there is likely
to be wide variation within each of these classes from the calculated median for individual
properties whose reported sale prices were included in the study.

The equalization factor is a multiplier that is applied to all assessed values in a county to ensure
that the total equalized assessed value of the county equals 33 1/3% of fair market value.’® The
application of the multiplier is known as inter-county equalization. All counties, including Cook,
are required to undergo equalization to ensure that the total value of real property is 33 1/3%
of market value"!

To calculate effective tax rates, the median level of assessment is multiplied by the equalization
factor to estimate the percentage of a property’s total value that is taxed. This percentage is
then muitiplied by the actual composite tax rate to produce the effective tax rate. The adjusted
median level of assessment is used when it is available in the Department of Revenue data. The
median level of assessment for the most specific geographic area is also used when it is
available. Therefore, township median levels of assessment are used unless they are
unavailable, in which case the median level of assessment for the whole reassessment triad i1s
used.

Effective Property Tax Rate Calculation

- County c : Effective
Median Leve! y 4 Equalization ® omposite 2 - 8 Property
of Assessment Factor Tax Rate Tax Rate

s
4 i
Where 10 find: Whera to find: Where to tind:
Assissrment Halios Pinal Faualizatiar Tax Raten based oe Tan
{tom the Hlinos ot tioss by County $rom Code igm Coutity
Dhopat It of thi dlingis Department Clarksy’ OMhices

Rovenue of Reweays

There have not been enough sales of industrial property in Cook County’'s Chicago Triad
reassessment district for the illinois Department of Revenue to compute industrial median

? Cook County ordinance 08-0-51. Previous levels were 16% for Class 2, 38% for Class 5a and 36% for Class 5b

" Equalization is necessary for the far implementation of certain state statutes, including those related to educauon
transportation and other grants. See the Civic Federation’s “The Cook County Propaity Assessmant | 55 &Y
Assessment, Classifica n, and Property Tax Exemplion:”.
135 ILCS 200/9-210.

|



levels of assessment since 2014, in 2013, there were not enough sufficient industrial sales in
the South Triad to calculate a median level of assessment. In 2022, there was again a lack of
sufficient sates in the Chicago Triad and South Triad to calculate a median level of assessment.
As a result of the lack of industrial sales for the Chicago Triad and South Triad, the Civic
Federation is unable to make a 10-year comparison for industrial properties. However, the
llinois Department of Revenue was able to calculate industrial median levels of assessment for
the North Triad in 2013, 2021 and 2022. As result, the Civic Federation is able to make a two-
and 10-year comparison for industrial properties in that triad.

Effects of Exemptions on Residential Effective Tax Rates

Property tax exemptions available to eligible homeowners reduce the taxable value of their
property. Exemptions lower the estimated effective tax rate of a homestead property by varying
amounts depending on the market value and exemption value. For example, the 2022 effective
tax rate for a Chicago residential property not eligible for exemptions is 1.69% of full market
value. The examples below show how that rate will differ for individual exemption-eligible
homesteads depending on their 2022 market vaiue and exemption value.'? However, the Civic
Federation cannot incorporate homestead exemptions into its calculations of effective tax rates
because our calculation of effective rates does not evaluate individual properties, but instead
uses aggregate estimates. Other studies of effective tax rates, such as those produced
periodically by the Taxpayers’ Federation of lilinois, use hypothetical home valtues to calculate
effective tax rates for different municipalities and are therefore able to incorporate homestead
exemptions into their analysis.'3

The following are several examples of effective tax rates after accounting for exermnptions.

« $300,000 Chicago home receiving the maximum $10,000 Homeowner Exemption:
Effective Tax Rate 1.46%.

» $300,000 Chicago home receiving a Senior Citizen Exemption {$8,000} and the maximum
$10,000 Homeowner Exemption: Effective Tax Rate 1.27%.

» $400,000 Chicago home receiving a Senior Citizen Exemption ($8,000) and the maximum
$10,000 Homeowner Exemption: Effective Tax Rate 1.38%.

« $200,000 Chicago home receiving a Senior Citizen Exemption ($8,000) and the maximum
$10,000 Homeowner Exemption: Effective Tax Rate 1.06%.

Public Act 100-0401, signed into law on August 25, 2047, increased the homeowner exemption in Cook Couniy to $30,000
from 47,000 and the senior citizen exempiion to $8,000 from $5,000 beginning i tax year 2017 for taxes payable in 2018. In
alt other counties the senior ciuzen exemption is $5,000 and the homeowner exempuon 15 $6,000.

i3 See Taxpayers' Federation of llinais March 2018 Tax Facts,



Effective Property Tax Rates

Tax Year 2022
Caok County
Residential Commercial Industrial*

Chicago 1 6%% 4 29% =
Gliznvicw 183% 4.45% 4 29%
Barrington 1.85% 263% 415"

Orland Park 103% 5.02%

Evansion 2.058% 4.93% 4 750

EIL Grove Village 2 1% 5.18% 4 59%
Arlington Heighits 2.28% 5.60% 5 20%

Sthaumburg 2.31% 5.76% 5.55%
Elgin 2 30% 5.93% 5.72%

Qak Park 2.89% 7.72%

Chicago Heights 3.24% 12.13%

Harvey 3.74% 17.41%

DuPage County
Al Types cf Property

Oak Brook 1 09%
Naperville 1.81%
Wheaton 1.96%

Elk Grove Village 2.38%

Kane County

All Types of Praperty
Aurora 2.25%
Geneva 2.32%
Carpantersville 2.33%
Elgin 2.59%

Lake County

All Types of Property
Lake Forest 1.68%
Fox Lake 2.32%
Waukegan 2.62%
Buffalo Grove 272%

Will County

All Types of Property
Paotone 1,835
Maperdille 1.90%
Romeovilfe 2.54%
foliet 2.54%

McHensy County

All Types of Property
Barrington Hills 2.13%
Algonguen 2.27%
Harvard 2.60%
Woodstack 2.67%

Note: Ali the eliectue tax rates in the coilar counties ncluile
residential, cemmerciol and industrial propervaes.

*Chicage and South Triad industrial efieetive Lo« rates unavalable
(See Methodolagy)



Tax Year 2022 Residential Effective Property Tax Rates for Selected

Municipalities

Residential

2 3%
Algengisn

Larnenterule

3%

I Ll Growe Wolage | r

a3

" Chicay:
1%

Note: Collar County effective rates apply 10 all types of property. Only Cook County uses differential assessment and

therefore its municipalities have different effective property tax rates for different classes of property such as residential,
commercial and industrial. Selected effective tax rates do not apply to an enure community but are instead calculated from

an individual tax code.

Sources: Civic Federation calculations based on county clerks' tax rate reports and Illinois Department of Revenue
assessment-sales ratio and equalization factor reports.



Tax Year 2022 Commercial Effective Property Tax Rates for Selected

Municipalities
Commercial
— — s = —- t’;

IR

N:;'F‘.-—T\-'IH ward }'

Lo rew “ e L
Eojs ] Ylagk ™ Far Lake
e %l-"'a;“,"'

W o

I
Harmngon Hils

_TFL
| et
e
walfnt Wauk eqan
1 2.6
T
IR
-

City of La‘kp Foras:
{ 1.7%

3L A=
o ; EY
f“‘?;‘i“ R ltage-of Butato Giove
- 5_—_._..1.;.1“._3:_,-.. Barrmglen - ""_!_JJ .
o o T X o
Capeniarsvite sy o 1 8% iﬁ"v’\ Glersew
2% o 1 P Arfington Hélths 1'__‘3\:‘5%
g L?.-Giéf.a BT
AN e Scnnhmhue“q Yy L id L At
g -Ji‘q = vl 5.8% 4 Fhracr 53 L Ewatibly
= £x 4.9%
Elv Grove village
o 1% '
ol o
1V Wieaton Chicagr
Uzk Brogk 4.3%
Lite
'5'-"." i Boigen vl
— 1.8%
Mg Je - ! {TJ :,,?/‘
ane P i -
Lé% PRSI L7
5~ T Romeawille F':_;.-_ L
rl .
= 25% Ut ol T Harvoy
ol Pl e 17 4%
% Ty -
~ U;“i Qrland Fak
v ——— iall ¢ T
= . eha
S
A
e -_,‘2‘ «h#
IR I johet
At 3084 7 5%
S “:—‘_? Chirago Heights
el e 12 1%

Pacione
Lot

Note: Collar County effective rates apply to all types of property. Only Cook County uses differential assessment and
therefore its municipalities have different effective property tax rates for different classes of property such as residential,
commercial and industrial. Selected effective tax rates do not apply to an entire community but are instead calculated from

an individual tax code.

Saurces: Civic Federation calculations based on county clerks’ tax rate reports and IHinois Department of Revenue

assessment-sales ratio and equalization factor reports.

10



Tax Year 2022 Industrial Effective Property Tax Rates for Selected

Municipalities

Inclustrial

~sig
© of of WaLt v
26

5
City of Laie

i 1.7%
SHRTON Fults
215 o
Aoy r e B ghY
32 1% Vaher & viliage ot-Buttalo Groce
R i aTh,
i Ko i3 Bt Gietiy s
Carpentersvib N B.\r;-f\q:n = oty a3
3% T 5% A ngton Mants
A= 7
i E :
h ;f!-nt Ly
e ! Evangle
4.7
s
E1k Grave Yitlaga
ram o o
“::'F;Eanvla}d_ Cal Pars
il .
S VWheatan s
w Uk Ozk Brogs,
%
= y
AR e i
< Aurard, e Hapo aile
E'.--.-. 22 Fale .1 B3
PRI - ]
Napene I'e
195
|
0 T
- B L arat Frk, ik

wilt g

I

Note: Collar County effective rates apply ta all types of praperty. Only Cook County uses differential assessment and
therefore its municipalities have different effective property tax rates for different classes of property such as residential,

commercial and industrial. Selected effective tax rates do not apply to an entire community but are instead calculated from
an individual tax code. 2022 Industrial effective tax rates were unavailable in Cook County for the Chicago and South Triads.
Sources: Civic Federation calculations based an county clerks' tax rate reports and llinais Department of Revenue
assessment-sales ratio and equalization factor reports.

11

20



cl

[FHoionoUIaW 25) 2|GR|IPATUN ST XT1 DANIAYS [BLASAPUI PRUL YINOS PUE 0FENUT 2707 x (A30I0POUIB W 935) "BIGEHEARUN S21E 1 BT JAN3ANS [L1NSNPUI PeLL 08EIYT |70

%9 T %WlIT %63 uedaynep ¢
% 15" %891 %LLL 153404 T £
%9°9- %ZL'T %8 T eI X0 7
VYA %ZLT %56°T BAOIS Ojeyng L
sBueyd e,  ZZOT LZoz
Kusdouy Jo sady v
fAuno) axeq
; - 0deayy 71
; WHIT6L Aansey t
%BO'E L wBiaH o8enyd ot
%EP'R wied yeQ 6
: %/5°9 Fed puelQ 8
%EOL- 1%55'G %6 L9 Finquineuss 7
WS LT %abp WA’ uordulleg g
%61 MEG'E W9’ ABRIAAACIO NI §
WPTL- %WOPS %919 syBeH uolduiuy &
WETi- %SLY WIS UoISURA] €
WS'EL WoC'v %96t MIAURID 7
BR'BL-  WIL'G WL uefiy |
squURYI 9 44TZ0Z  4LTOT
leriIsnpul

%9
%8'g-
WYL
%L ]
adueyn 9

%t'9-
E1 A
Y%l'L
Y%al'6
a8ueys o

%0C-
%6'¢-
WZ'E-
%k G-
%l '8-
W%HBEL-
%bv1-
GRS L
MBS L-
%BG |-
%G -
%GeLZ-
adueyd oy

somuadosd [ensnpul pue eewiw [RALANISH SR SSIUND) IS[I0T 3141 Ul SAIB L x21 AN JLL Hy 0N

%/Z'C %ER'L unbuodly ¢
%L LT %87 s|iH ucBuiieg €
%09°C %18'C piealey 7
%L9°7 WO ¥IOISPOOAA L
2202 LzZoz
Rasadoag yo sadk) |1y
funo) LauapHow
%SEE WOV’ 2IOMNY
L YA %05°¢C PABURS) £
%65 %o6LE wg|3 7z
YEET Y%95'T 3jpasiauadiey |
ZZ0T 1202
Auadoad jo sadA] v
Aunod auey
%Z0'9 L34 Nied pUelNg i
%el'd US6'L yied yeQ 1|
WITLL  W66LL AarIEH 01
%ELZL WIBZL siydiay o8eanyd ¢
%o %0L Y ofeanyy g
WGLS %8979 Funguineyds ¢
HED Yhire’S uoiduLiieg 9
HQL'S %Z19 ade||ip 2A0LD WIS §
%09°5 %59'9 swBlaH uo1Buipy ¢
%EG'T %58°S UO1SURAT €
%Sy %9E’S MIINUBID 7
BEG'S  WOTL wsig |
Z20¢ LZ0oZ
|e1243WWo)
Aiunoy noo)

{BsE3.10U1 )S3|[BWS AQ J3PJO JUE. L)

ZZOT SA TZ0T 's1ey Xe] Alisdold aAnoay3

Sd'Er
%R'S
YAV
%66
28ueya v,

% -
%9°'G-
GEL-
%l'6"
a8ueyd o,

%S
%6 ¥
%9°C
%8
%S0
%c'0
AHEL-
%Rz
%6'€-
9%6°9-
%E8-
HOGL-
28ueys v,

Tt T Gt 97 1o ¢
%WtS'T WH9T D|IAVBILIOY F
%ES' L %L6 | AU0ID3Y 7
%061 Wil afjrdaden
zZ0¢ 1LZ0T
Aviadoud jo sadA) |y
Auno) [1m
%60 L %Ll NO0ig HED b
%BE'T L YA 28e|IA 2A0ID T €
%YL %56 L aaadeN
W96° | L YAW4 LolEaUM L
Zzoe LZ0Z
Ayaedoug jo sadAy 1y
funos afedng
%Wlle %002 a8e|ia /01D W3 7L
WGTT  WLLT  SIWBPH UOIEUNIY L
%E8'L WLL'| MBIAUBIT GL
%IE'T LAY ginguineyds &
%007  WSCT uolIsueA] g
%68'C %88°¢ AedARQ £
%SGR 0GR uoiduiiieg g
%OET %It w3 5
%69°L %94 L ofexyd v
%EQT %8BT Aied PUBIQ £
WL %G AanieH 7
Wwre'C %8¢ s)ydiay o8ediys |
zzZoe L1207
|enuapisay



£l

FRFIPARGN S3100 <€ AALLIHD SIS DR LIN0S DU DR | 0FRIIEY TE0T. o SIEFEAPIN SDIRL @1 SAL 2,55 (D0 P 1 HIN0S €107 -

SENHGO I RUISADE DUE 010001653 IRHUADISHL SP0301SUTINDD I0[[S2 fe] 1 UESALTY 200 aA D] el |y 210N

BRI wELT $H0Y'Z S)iE uoBuLLIRg ¢ %S 12" %P6 Yotd '€ 2ol ¢
BG'9E-  Sh097 HEO' heeaey ¢ e YT HEGT ®OCE 2pnoaLuny £
WrLEs WLTT GHESE uinbuoly 2 YL %061 %Z9°T aliruaden ¢
WLEE %97 %89 ¥I0ISPOOM | € ZE- %ER'L %0LT WO |
adueyd oy ZZOZ £L0Z eBueydrn,  zzozZ £L0T
A3iadoid jo sadAg ||v fradoid Jo sadA} v
Liuno)s Asuapdw Liunod [im
%80 HIT'L %07 | 1S0U0= BT v W vy MTET BL0E CASLRD v 50l e %ol #OOIE HEO v
WETL- WTLE e AAOID O)CNg € MLEE MBS %06 g3 ¢ O QLT %OR'T AFRIIA #ACID 1T £
WBIPYT WIET WGy aye o4 7 BEPE WGTE WIPE ciony 7 YAy %G5 | %LGE LOILSUM £
BEES %IOT %(9°G ueEYNeAs | %606 MEETE %0LE Alinsiguadie) | wE'Te %alQt % T apadadeN |
a8ueysz o,  7zZoZ £L0Z afueyd o  ZzZoz €102 Jdueys o zzZoz £1L0Z
K1a3doud jo sadAL |y faadoad jo sad£) |1y Kiiadoug jo sadhy ||y
Aiunos aeq Ajunod auey funo) adedna
Y84 MEO 7L %S L NETY BHR'E odeaiyy 7 WTT %G L %6 ¢ oSeauy 71
¥igd pULG L 6y HEG' nipy umunieg | GGt TER'L %Rt MAIALRD ||
Swdian odenyd o) BE'r WIPLl %99 Aanien 1 UG- WERT GO C Aleg ¥E0 01
Aansed 50 |- et WISt MIAUBD 6 488 %G3'l WO uoisu|lieg
MTO o8Iy g W7 WMELZL %SETI s 08y g WSOt HOUE WHOLE UOWILRAT ]
BTG U UOISULLIPE £ WE v BRL'G BYE'S SAPIIA BADD 1T £ YELL WlEE %6l'7 dinguineps
Wty 07 Ml GRGLEG MBIALIDD G 0yl I09'C WHl6'S LT umBuiny 1 BLHL L7 WHST adepa an0in Y3
L0ER HRYT ATCPA BADID T § %7 G WILG R0 Binqueneyas g HOGL i HiwT  Snday umFuily §
L Bp0y SRR uofuipy v W G WL %158 Al e ¢ 65T WEOT WELT 2R PURLO
L5 ET %o G T fanquunews ¢ %66 BEG'Y WLV'S UOISUPAT € 81 HWOET WOrE uigia £
WIT R50F WEG HOSUTAT 7 %0l %09 WOLG #ied PURLQ 7 by WLy LG8 Ramivy ¢
S0 WLTR rHEN] WSbl- %EG'S WG EIEN NHG T L ya WEG'S sdiay 0BT |
aBueyd o« ZZ0Z  «£LOZ 2dueydr o ZzoZ £107 2dueyd oy, ZZOZ £102
leuisnpul |eDA2 IO jeuaIpIsay
Aunoj jood

{95E2.0U) 159)|BWS AG JapJO yues Ul
ZZOT 'SA £TOT 'sarey xe| Aliadoud aailday3



Wi
N
YN
YIN
Y08
w%ElsL-
Y%LEET
WeL L
%SP 07
WiEEl
IO
LZ0]

SvE B
0T 0L
%0
Wry'v
Wi Tl
YrH'y
KOS
SHEE G-
%651
WG
%IL P
SrhTL 4

WOV G-
%Wag et
%0s T
WOE L
TrRTLE-
LB
Cge Lt
A
%E97L-
L0611
WELRL-
%Ll

CTOZ-ELOT
aluey) o

¥IN
YiIN
YiIN
YN
%BLGL-
BevLl-
RELOL-
SEFTL
SESEL-
WBTCL-
BrhLE-
YIN

%680
%10°7-
%S
%076
®lole:
%oewL-
SeLEL
Pa0RGL-
%LBGL-
WLt
S 1
%08

R
“%Z6'9-
GEG T L
%azR:
Hil'd
%O T
wITeT
WLED
ISR
WaB'E
WREG
%16

zZZoZ-Lzoe
afueysy oy

YN
wiIN
VIN
YIN
LG
%3ty
%556
T
#6LF
%OF'S
%oH'r
WiN

RELL
"EN'G
WELTL
Ul oL L
“HER'S
HEF
%9L'S
HEE'P
%S
%09
%®21'S
oLV

AxxZT0C

"hbw'8
MESY
e
wo Gl
Bl L
wpl'S
L Y]
Sir'S
S0/ Y
%HL'O
AL )
WiN

"hS6TL
Shirl "9
gL
Ha6'LL
%097,
'y
%29'g
4GRS
UGS
RS9
A ]
SGLT

%8R T
%817
GiRE
Gl 1G
YA
a8 L
s
Estors
"Ll
LT
Qo7
ANl

LEoz

A8y
WhL'G
YN

WrEe
0o’
LAY AN
%llgl
®99G
wlig
*GE'B
SRE'L
wL9G
%RTE
b3 W'

HLl'V

BLLE
T
w“seT
%l
SSLT
HO'T
%S0T
%8I
BLG'
WL
K14
%Ll

#0202

Fl

AHOIODSUIAK 205 HIAMICAR 10U SIICT (91 BANIDLD LSRRG GHENTL. ,

ASnINNEUIAE SAG HNENIPAR 10U SH12) Y] AL A0 nRU DL IR0 PUE OFPIIG T,

ABOODOYIAE aAG ANBIPAL 104 S21P1 Y01 ALAdoad AW PINSNPW DR (E

Wi YIN ®09'¢L /N VIN Yi 70! Nled Heg

YIN WIN RhHE'G VI wiN LN ¥IN Naed puejso

Wil YN L PR} ] WIN /N vIN syyfian o8enyy

ViN YN W7 g YIN WiN VN WIN LELVE
L YA WA BLLY L2 weg L %08°L LoTA ] BLTR md3
LIS BEE'P g W't %06 r1g Ehes uojBujlieg
WLL'Y WHED'S HEL9 HEGG W99 H9LL %P L Sangquineyds
Y233 %ly's YELL'S 009 %56’ %199 %BIG'G uUOISUBA]
WLS WBEV'Y lLt Bi%'Y %60 wRG'S WhE'S MIIALS)D
%ESD WBL'G %07 0 wWOY'G 3 L5'D WSLL W'l SIYBIaH uo3Buiy
%019 %eTS WGE’S HBEQ'G WS ETA wHY9 ade(pA 34019 %3

¥IN WIN /N N iN wiIN "EYE oZeny)n

|1e1135npul Aunod yoo)
LY YA %ISe %GEL %09'8 KGCH %lE's 5@ Aded HeQ
WLOS %170 %EZG W05 “Wwel'L W95, 0L Hied puead
S0ZTL %ADEL  wpROL %L WIEE! WOVl WGP s3yday ofenyy
Shpl 0| %0181 wer'sl  WrP'SI %At HOT6I L9991 Aansey
ECTANS RESL %867 85/ LG WEL'R “HER LY 23] uid)3
BEO'S HOR'P Yl b YL v LAY WOE'S Yolv'v uoBurieg
%OF9 %599 WL LY WIS WO0'L “OEL %809 2inquineyss
%005 %®L0°9 HES'S %IEG LY “ehy %iv'S ugIsueAl
®HE0'S %LA'Y %55°P oLV WGEG wES'S LY MIIAUD|9
%R7°9 2670 %G WEL'G HIH'G S®E0L Y lB'S siydiay uoiBuijay
%13'S WMROD %69°G Totr's L SEhe] %159 TS adejip 2a04D 4|3
Lot o TA o %Re'E Yy Y9 el EECRD oFeny)
jerawwo] AIUNoD Joos

SanE %0LE Hag'T WBCl'E Woh T %6’ %5S0°C Hied ¥eQ
Spare L YA-4 %9LY %I ANy 4 WESC %EL T Nied puepiQ
HBEr'S %RE°S %106 SO2'G WEYS MGG G REG'G s3ydiay odeanyd
GO L] B0 w“De'G %062 WlLs %BRO'R fanien
w08 w0OR'T WOH0'E Sl E %t lf HG1E wOE w3
WO0'Y Ybh'l %00 R lure %l0'Z a0 weo'7 uci3uiiieg
E AN %9£°7 W'l RTTAars E R T L YA Ainquineyds
%ll'E WO %GLT WlL'E %0E WL W0LT ugIsuURA3
Yiurs HOG™Y %L 981 G ROLL I8 L MBIAUILD
SplE'? LT R TA %Wre’d WG R TN g si1ydian uolBuiay
%l WL WEEE WOE'T Wt TC WrE e 65"l adejiia 2n049 3
I WHOLL bl GGy LA %0 1 %09t ofeay)

jenuapisay Liuno) yoo3

«w6L0Z

*xxBLOT  wxalBOZ  wx9L0Z  »4SLOZ  «ePi0Z =E£10Z

ZZOZ -£10Z senjediuniy AJunoD H00D palaalas uLsaley Xe| Aliadoid aA113a43



UBOCr-
%Z59¢-
%Ot LE-
WEL8L-

YhErve-
B0OLEE-
%LE 9L
Yt EPrE-

%Ot L
Y%6CCE
WOs'Le-
%6l

Y6 L'ES
%180
%lsCL
%8O -

WLETT
%68 L
%1i80L-
NoSLL-

ZZ0Z-tloZ ZZoZ-lZoZ

adueys

%0L8-
LYW
%9e0-

Wrs9-

Wl L
%Ol L
%iC6
%9¢° G

%886~
%BLL-
ETA RN
%ol 5

%E9'C-
%80°S-
WoL'L

%C99-

WbT L
LD 6
%Svvr
®EY'S-

alueyd

LG
%09°E
%LT T
%ELC

%le
%6
BHEE"
%S

[ I el A

™1

06"t
%HEY'L
%G L

wPrS'e

EiTa
%89°L
WELE
%IEC

%L3°L
%96
%601
%8E <

~

Zzoc

Z2T0T - £102 saiijedidiuniy AJunod Jejjod) palda|as ul sajey xe ] A1adoad aa13da43

%io'e
Yol 8'C
WEV'T
WRC'C

W0s°7
WHL'E
%957
%0r'¢

hLLT
ROYACH
W%hrOZ
%eY' T

%69
%Ll L
%56¢
%8y

o~

¥A174

(AR
%60t
%BLT
%rLT

WAL'T
%00°E
wee't
%0LZ

%SE'C
%80
%E6T
%S0'E

0c0zZ

%1SE
WSCE
®IT
WGV

%hL
%aL'E
LATAR
%rL¢

%Ot ¢
%8
WH6'E
W00

%05°E
%881
%60
%98°¢

WSO
WIET
%rll
%8S

6L0Z

Sl
%bd't %R E
T WLTE
%8 W®EL'E
WSE'Z %9e'7
Auno) KAiuapow
Y%CL'T %6LC
WllE WBLLE
967 %06C
%8L'C %L]E
funo) suey
WlET WLE'T
%3¢ %S
WER'C %l6'T
ROTACE %L0'E
A3uno) jim
%LGE WEL'E
%Z3'L %S4 |
%L0'C %EG'T
W66 %L8°C
fiunoy e
%02 %L0T
T CATAYd
SL00L %e0'L
4%EST WL

Aiuno) adedng

8102 L1102

®0S'E
%LV'E
H60E
%0¥'

%8
Y%LEE
WH6TE
%L8'T

Wer'e
%er'Z
%0LE
Yell'€

%88t
69
%w06'C
%6Z°E

WELT
%SET
%90}
. L

g9L0Z

%EL'F
HERE
%GZE
%ATE

m{8C
Wor'e
%lEC
ENyd

WS
%09
YUhHiE

%a9LE

%BEF
%L9°1
%I6E
WrSE

%3LT
%Ste
%ELL
%08°¢

5L0Z

Yllr
%HET:
WNEV'E
EOTA

%e'E
%ES'E
%0SE
%IL'E

%95°¢C
%ve'c
%LLE
WSTE

WEST
%lei
WlGZ
%B9S'E

%SCC
%I <
Rll'L
%ve¢

rLOZ

%89’
%60'v
%EO'E

%09°¢

<t

%L0'E
W06t
%0LE
%IT'E

%79°¢
%0L'C
WL
%9C

MM

%09
%0L
Ll
%Sl

< M o~ i

BET
Y%lS
Y%ed
%8B8¢

[t}

- o

£L0¢C

}I01SPOOMA
piealen
uinbuoSpy

SIIH uo18uLiieg

eAlUSD

]
aliasialuadie)
0Ny

apasaden
2U0103d
3vnof
3|[Inoawoy

ueSaxnem
153404 e
JA04D Ofjeyng
e xo4

3j|asaden
UoILIYM

joolg qvg
ade[|IA 2A04D (3

I



APPENDIX

Cook County Assessment Townships

BARRINGTON PALATING WHEELNG | NORTHRIELD

HANOVES SCHAUMBURG

TRAER
suREST

o YO

FRBGIED

R ER%IDE

| qu.ia.;i;r

Ly ONE

E
&

LEMCHT

Led L o AREVEN TeCRNT 2N

Reassessment Districts
i | City Triennial District
~ North Trienmal District

South Trrenmial District

16



RESOLUTION 2024-05
SETTING COMPENSATION OF TOWNSHIP OFFICIALS
FOR THE FOUR YEAR TERM BEGINNING MAY 19, 2025
WHEELING TOWNSHIP, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

WHEREAS, according to 60 ILCS 1/65-20, the compensation of township officers shall
be set by the township board at least 180 days before the beginning of the terms of office.

WHEREAS, according to 35 ILCS 200/2-70, the compensation the township assessor
and collector shall be set by the township board at the same time the board sets the compensation
of its township supervisor.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY Board of Trustees of Wheeling
Township that the compensation of the township officials for the four-year term beginning May
19, 2025 shall be as follows:

Section 1: The salaries for Township officials shall be as follows:

Supervisor’s Salary: $38,145.00 Annually
Township Clerk Salary: $18,533.00 Annually
Assessor $26,700.00 Annually

Trustees: $4,444.00 Annually for each trustee

Adopted on , 2024 by the following roll call vote:
AYES:
NAYS;
ABSTAIN:
Supervisor
Attest:
Clerk

20



CLERK’S CERTIFICATE

I, , the undersigned, do hereby certify that [ am duly qualified and
acting Clerk of the Board of Trustees of Wheeling Township, Cook County, Illinois (the
“Township™), and as that official, [ am the keeper of the records and files of the Board of Trustees
of the Township.

I do further certify that the foregoing Resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of that
Resolution as adopted by the Township Board of Trustees at the regular meeting of the Board
held on the day of November, 2024,

[ do further certify that the deliberations and the vote of the members of the Board of Trustees on
the adoption of the Resolution were taken openly; that the meeting was held at a specified time
and place convenient to the public; that notice of the meeting was duly given to all newspapers,
radio or television stations, and other news media requesting notice; that the meeting was called
and held in strict compliance with the provisions of the Illinois Open Meetings Act, as amended,
and the Illinois Township Code (60 ILCS 1/1, et seq.); and that this Board has complied with all
of the applicable provisions of that Act and Code and with all the procedural rules of the Board
of Trustees.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature, this day of November,
2024,

Township Clerk

L)



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-03

ANNUAL SINGLE TOWNSHIP TENTATIVE TAX LEVY ORDINANCE 2024
TOWN AND GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUNDS

To be filed with County Clerk, County of Cock for Wheeling
Township.

To the County Clerk of Said County:

I, Joanna M. Gauza, do hereby certify that I am the Township
Clerk duly elected, gualified, and acting in and for the said
Township; and that in pursuance of authority vested in them by
"An Act to revise the law in relation to township organization,®
approved March 4, 1874, as amended, the Board of Trustees in a

meting assembled on December 10, 2024, did direct that there be

raised by general taxation for the year 2025 the amounts herein
set down, to be levied upon all the taxable property in said
Township, in order to meet and defray all the necessary expenses
and liabilities of the Township as required by statute or voted by
the people in accordance with law, and the amounts so required

are itemized and needed for uses and purposes as follows, as
appears from the record of the proceedings of said Board cof Town

Trustees meeting, on file in my office, to-wit:

For necessary expenses for the general uses and purposes of the

Township -

TOWN AND GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUNDS

¢



I. ADMINTISTRATION DIVISTON:
Salary (Supervisor)

Salary (Clerk)

Salary { Assessor)

Salaries (Board of Trustees)
Salaries (Additional Personnel})
FICA

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
U/C Insurance

Medical Insurance

Worker's Compensation Insurance
Building Grounds Maintenance
Equipment Maintenance

General Insurance

Telephone

Utilities

Travel Expense

Printing & Publishing

Legal

Audit

Bonding Insurance

Professional Devel. & Training
Dues & Subscriptions

Office Supplies

Postage

Supplies

Public Information

Social Services

Contract Services
Equipment/Furniture Purchases
Building & Permanent Improvement
Capital Improvements
Miscellaneous

Vehicle Expense

Employee Appreciation

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION

GENERAL TOWN FUND

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

25,990
12,600
18,160
12,090
218,060
23,500
23,000
1,000
52,000
1,600
57,000
8,000
60,000
2,400
18,000
500
1,200
18,800
12,000
10,000
2,800
6,300
4,300
1,100
5,660
68,034
5,000
7,500
3,500
17,000
10,000
3,600
7,000
1,200

A



Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

IJ. CIERK'S EXPENSE:

Clerical 3,560
FICA 267
Illincis Municipal Retirement Fund 300
U/C Insurance 30
Workers Compensation Insurance 5
Travel & Incidentals 170
Dues & Fees 210
Postage 255
Equipment 400
Supplies 400
Printing & Publishing 100
Training 100
Election Expense 500
Miscellaneous Expense 340

TOTAL FOR CLERK'S EXPENSE 56,637



IT1. ASSESSOR'S EXPENSE:
Salaries ({(Personnel)

FICA

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
Workers Comp

Medical Insurance

U/C Insurance
Equipment Maintenance
Telephone

Travel

Training

Postage

Dues

Office Supplies
Equipment/Furniture
Assessment Materials
Miscellaneous

TOTAL FOR ASSESSOR'S EXPENSE

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

110,000
6,900
10,000
400
11,500
150
3,600
1,000
500
800
300
300
800
1,200
300
200

3



IV, SENIOR SERVICES:
Salaries

FICA

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

U/C Insurance

Medical Insurance

Worker's Compensation Insurance
Office Supplies

Printing & Publishing

Dues & Subscriptions

Training & Workshops

Travel (Meals On Wheels)

Travel (Staff)

Postage

Telephone

Equipment, Furniture & Fixtures
Volunteer Background Checks
Volunteer Insurance
Miscellaneous

TOTAL FOR SENIQR SERVICES

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

104,650
7,840
10,450
400
20,180
850
1,000
500
100
700
500
1,000
1,000
500
1,550
1,600
1,000
500

33—



V. SENIQR BUS SERVICES:

Bus
Bus

Salaries-Dispatcher & Drivers
FICA

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus
Bus

U/C Insurance

Medical Insurance

Worker's Comp. Insurance

Office Supplies

Postage

Office Equip, Furniture, Fixtures
Telephone

Vehicle Purchase/Lease

Equipment Maintenance

Insurance

Fuel

Printing & Publishing
Uniforms

Physicals & Training

Push to Talk Cells
Miscellaneous

TOTAL FOR SENIOR BUS

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

266,500
16,950
22,000

3,800
33,000
6,000
680
200
5,000
1,360
87,050
35,000

105,000

40,000
400
350

1,750
3,000
350

23



Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

VI. CEMETERY :

Salaries (Trustees) 1,130
Payroll Taxes 113
Workers Compensation Insurance 75
Travel 1,130
Grounds-Caretaker/Landscape 19,606
Grounds-Tree Maintenance 753
Grounds-New Trees 753
Office Supplies 15
Publishing Bid Notices 150
Grounds-Fence Maintenance 5,544
Grounds-Roadway Maintenance/Snow & Ice Control 2,500
Grounds-Sign Maintenance 378
Insurance 113
Foundation Repair 3,000
Grave Repurchase 1,000
Miscellaneous 227
Legal 75
Computerization 378

TOTAL FOR CEMETERY 537,000



VII. YOUTH SERVICES:

Children's Advocacy Center
The Harbour
Shelter

TOTAL FOR YOUTH SERVICES

VIII. HUMAN SERVICES:

Access to Care
Connections to Care
Family Forward

Hands On Suburban Chicago
Kinred Life Ministries
Life Span

Dental Clinic

Northwest Compass Emergency Shelter

WINGS

TOTAL FOR HUMAN SERVICES

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

4,000
3,700
30,000

13,500
13,000
8,000
1,500
4,000
11,000
25,000
25,000
4,500



IX. MENTAL HFALTH BOARD EXPENSES
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

SALARIES

FICA

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

LEGAL

CFFICE SUPPLIES

TRAINING

DUES

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

MISCELLANEQOUS

TOTAL MENTAL HEALTH ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

MENTAL ILLNES/IDD/SUBSTANCE USEAGE FUNDING

ASCESION -Alexian Center for Mental Health
ASCESION -Substance Useage

Avenues to Independence

Center for Enriched Living

Children's Advocacy Center

Clearbrook

Countryside/Little City

Josselyn Center

Journeys The Road Home

Omni Youth Services

TOTAL MENTAL ILLNES/IDD/SUBSTANCE USEAGE FUNDING

TOTAL MENTAL HEALTH BOARD EXPENSES

TOTAL FOR GENERAL TOWN FUND

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

50,000
1,500
1,100
5,000

500
1,000
500
5,000
750

§65, 350

85,000
10,000
25,000
4,000
4,000
85, 350
20, 000
15,000
7,000

85,100
$340,450

$2,242,191

36



For necessary expenses of the Township GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUND.

GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUND

I. ADMINISTRATION DIVISION:
Staff Salaries

FICA

Illineis Municipal Retirement Fund
U/C Insurance

Medical Insurance

Worker's Compensation

Telephone

Utilities

Travel

Professional Development & Training
Office Supplies

Postage

Equipment/Maintenance

Legal

Audit

Miscellaneous

TOTAL FOR ADMINISTRATICN

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

160,000
10,751
16,000

300
18,000
100
1,350
1,000
250
2,300
1,000
900
5,500
600
600
410

3



IT. HOME RELIEF:

Medical Care

Utilities (Inc. Heat/Light/Water)
Shelter

Shelter with Utilities
Transportation

Food

Personal Essentials

Burial Expense

Institutional Care/Private Hospital
Catastrophic Insurance
Miscellaneous

TOTAL HOME RELIEF

IIT. EMERGENCY ASSISTANCE:
Medical Care

Utilities

Shelter

Food

Work Related Expenditures
Miscellaneous

TOTAL EMERGENCY ASSISTANCE
IV. CONTINGENCIES:
Contingencies

TOTAL CONTINGENCIES

TOTAL FOR GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUND

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

750
7,000
54,800
5,100
9,115
18,515
4,860
875
20,000
3,800
550

220
11,000
54,290

300

1,100

720

Making the amount to be raised by taxation and levied on all
taxable property in said Township for uses and purposes aforesaid,

for the GENERAL ASSISTANCE FUND the sum of $419,174

$419,174



RECAPITULATION

General Town Fund Tax Levy
General Assistance Tax Levy

Making the aggregate sum of Two Million, Six Hundred Sixty-Cne
Thousand, Three Hundred Sixty-Five Dollars (2,661,365) to be
raised by taxation and levied on all the taxable property in
said Township, in order to meet and defray all the necessary
expenses and liabilities of the Township as required by statute
or voted by the people in accordance with law.

And it is hereby directed that the aforesaid sum to be raised by
taxation, in the manner provided by law.

$2,242,191
$419,174

$2,661,365

3



Approved by the board of Township Trustees,

on DECEMBER 10, 2024

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

Township Supervisor

Townshlp Clerk

Filed this day of

County Clerk

4

’

in meeting assembled

2024

{SEAL)

4o



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-04

ANNUAL SINGLE TOWNSHIP ROAD FUND TENTATIVE TAX LEVY ORDINANCE 2024

To be filed with County Clerk, County of Cook for Wheeling
Township.

To the County Clerk of Said County:

I, Joanna M. Gauza, do hereby certify that I am the Township
Clerk duly elected, qualified, and acting in and for the said
Township; and that in pursuance of authority vested in them by
"an Act to revise the law in relation to township organization,"
approved March 4, 1874, as amended, the Board of Trustees in a
meeting assembled on December 10, 2024, did direct that there be
raised by general taxation for the year 2025 the amounts herein
set down, to be levied upon all the taxable property in said
Township, in order to meet and defray all the necessary expenses
and liabilities of the Township as required by statute or voted by
the people in accordance with law, and the amounts so required
are itemized and needed for uses and purposes as follows, as
appears from the record of the proceedings of said Board of Town
Trustees meeting, on file in my office, to-wit:

For necessary expenses for the general uses and purposes of the
Township -

ROAD FUND



Salaries

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
FICA

Unemployment Compensation Insurance
Medical Insurance

Worker's Comp. Insurance

Telephone

Travel

Professional Devel. & Training
Office Supplies

Printing & Publishing

General Insurance

Legal

hudit

Dues & Subscriptions

Office Equipment, Furn. & Fixtures

Contract Work-Road Construction Maintenance

Contract Work-Snow & Ice Control
Machine Rental
Engineering

Permit Expenses
Supplies

Postage

Street Lighting
Municipalities
Miscellaneous Expenses
Property Maintenance
Contingencies

TOTAL FOR GENERAL ROAD FUND

Amount to be
Raised by Taxation

44,000
1,500
3,500

250
1,600
1,200

500

700

100

200

200
1,000
1,000
2,000

400

500

266,929

32,000

400
2,145
1,000

400

285

200

359,700

300

100
1,000

723,109

(g



Making the sum of Seven Hundred Twenty-Three Thousand, One Hundred

Nine Dollars_(723,109} to be raised by taxation and levied

on all the taxable property in said Township, in order to meet
and defray all the necessary expenses and liabilities of the
Township as required by statute or voted by the people in
accordance with law.

And it is hereby directed that the aforesaid sum to be raised by
taxation, in the manner provided by law.

Approved by the board of Township Trustees, in meeting assembled
on DECEMBER 10,2024

AYES:
Nays:

ABSENT:

Township Supervisor

Township Clerk

Filed this day of , 2024

County Clerk (SEAL)

13



